RECEIVED 07-05-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP381-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 2014CF3516)

.

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KORRY L. ARDELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From The Judgment of Conviction and Final Order Entered In The Circuit Court For Milwaukee County, The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Wisconsin's stalking statute tracks language from an early Model Anti-Stalking Code likewise employed by several other states. Under that language, "stalking" is limited to "a course of *conduct directed at a specific person*," i.e., the alleged victim. Wis. Stat. §940.32(2) (emphasis added). As uniformly interpreted by states with similar language, that language excludes conduct or statements regarding the alleged victim but directed at third parties, absent proof and a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant either intended such information to be passed on to the alleged victim or intended the third party to harass the alleged victim based on the information.

Given that language,

- a. Did the circuit court err in admitting evidence that Ardell sought information about N.T. from her former supervisor;
- b. Did the jury instructions, which permitted conviction based on the defendant's conversations with third parties about the alleged victim, without requiring a finding that he intended that the substance of the conversations be communicated to the alleged victim or encourage harassment of the alleged victim, fail to require proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all facts necessary for conviction;
- c. Did the instructions, which permitted conviction based on the defendant's conversations with third parties about the alleged victim, without requiring a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that he intended that the substance of the conversations be communicated to the alleged victim or encourage harassment of the alleged

victim, violate Ardell's First Amendment rights and Wis. Stat. §940.32(4); and

d. Whether retroactive judicial expansion of the scope of §940.32(2) to allow conviction of Ardell based on his conduct or conversations directed at third parties without proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he intended that the substance of the conversations be communicated to the alleged victim or encourage harassment of the alleged victim, would violate due process.

The circuit court denied Ardell's *in limine* motion to exclude evidence that Ardell sought information about N.T. from her former supervisor and denied Ardell's post-conviction motions challenging the admission of that evidence and the failure of the instructions to properly define the offense.

- 2. Whether the jury instructions failed to require proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all facts necessary for conviction by:
 - a. Failing to require proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Ardell acted with the subjective intent or purpose that his actions would cause a reasonable person to fear bodily injury or death to herself or a member of her family; or
 - b. Failing to require proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Ardell "knew or should have known that at least one of the acts constituting the course of conduct *would* [rather than merely 'could'], place [the alleged victim] in reasonable fear of bodily injury"

The circuit court denied Ardell's post-conviction motion challenging the failure of the instructions to properly define the offense. 3. Whether any alleged failure by Ardell's trial counsel to properly object to any of the substantive errors alleged here denied Ardell the effective assistance of counsel.

The circuit court summarily denied Ardell's post-conviction motion alleging ineffectiveness of trial counsel on these grounds.

4. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Ardell's motion without a hearing.

The circuit court merely adopted portions of the state's post-conviction memorandum and summarily denied Ardell's post-conviction motion without a hearing.

5. Whether reversal is justified in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat. §752.35 on the grounds that the real controversy was not fully tried.

The circuit court did not decide whether this Court should exercise its discretion under §752.35 but did deny a similar claim directed to its own discretion.

6. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to strike the Domestic Abuse enhancer and the Domestic Abuse Repeater enhancer from the Judgment.

Although the Court dismissed the enhancers at the beginning of the trial (R88:14), they somehow returned on the Judgment of Conviction (R50). Ardell sought correction of the oversight in his post-conviction motion (R54:1), but the lower court did not address or decide the point (*see* R65; App. 1-3).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat.

(Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a). Argument also should prove helpful to the Court given the confusion demonstrated by the state's response below and the circuit court's decision.

Publication likely is necessary under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23. Although Ardell's entitlement to relief is clear under the plain meaning and uniform interpretation by out-of-state courts of the relevant statutory provisions, the courts of this state have not yet addressed application of the stalking statute, Wis. Stat. §940.32(2), to actions directed, not at the alleged victim, but at third parties. A published decision adopting the common sense, plain meaning interpretation of the provision reflected in the out-of-state decisions would provide guidance to litigants and the lower courts and avoid the type of constitutional infringement and misapplication of the stalking statute that happened below.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2017AP381-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 2014CF3516)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KORRY L. ARDELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the proper interpretation and application of the stalking statute, Wis. Stat. §940.32(2), when the defendant's actions and comments are directed not at the alleged victim, but at third parties. The focus on this issue is aided by the fact that even the prosecutor at trial chose not to dispute that the alleged victim's own assertions were unworthy of belief after unbiased witnesses and physical evidence disproved substantial portions of her claims regarding alleged "stalking" behavior by Ardell and evidence showed that she had attempted to suborn perjury. (See R95:57, 86).

On November 5, 2015, the jury convicted Ardell of one count of stalking N.T. in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.32(2) (R96:8). The jury acquitted on a second charge (*id.*), and the state consented to dismissal of a third, despite a jury verdict, on the grounds that the evidence was insufficient (*id.*:8, 10-11).

The evidence at trial established the following:

After a brief intimate relationship in 2007, Ardell and N.T. split up (R89:26; R92:43). N.T. subsequently made a number of allegations about Ardell. When Ardell learned that she had falsely accused him of burning down a home he owned, he was outraged and sought information relevant to her credibility so he could protect himself from her allegations (R92:46-48; R93:23-24; R111:Exh.121). Ardell filed open records requests with the Division of Criminal Investigation and, because N.T. was an M.P.S. teacher (R89:17), with Milwaukee Public Schools (R89:18-22, 39-47; R92:51-57, 62-64; R100:Exhs.1-2, 4-7).

Ardell testified that he believed that he needed to show cause for the open records requests. He therefore included information that N.T. was involved in drug use and prostitution and that she had made false assertions (R92:50, 52). He also testified that he believed the requests would remain confidential and he did not think they would get back to N.T. (*id.*:49, 55). The requests were sent to M.P.S., not N.T. (R89:54-55). Only later did Ardell learn from M.P.S. and the attorney he hired to pursue the M.P.S. open records request that N.T. would be informed of the requests (R92:54; *see id.*:58-62; R111:Exh.123).

At trial, N.T. claimed that the eight years she had known Ardell were "horror" (R89:35). She claimed that he sat in front of her house and followed her to work many times, although she chose not to report them at the time or to keep track of more than a couple of the alleged dates (*id.*:33-35, 67-69, 71; *see also* R90:90).

N.T. claimed at trial that Ardell called and threatened her at home on May 23, 2013, the day the circuit court dismissed his

Ardell corroborated the prostitution claim with an online chat showing N.T.'s offer to exchange sex with him for money (R92:43-46; R111:Exh.120).

open records case against M.P.S. (R89:23-26, 32-33, 58, 63-64). N.T. then claimed that she saw Ardell parked in front of her house the following morning and that he followed her to work around 7:30 a.m. (*id*.:63-64). Based on N.T.'s allegations, her school principal at the time, Michelle Hagen, advised her to seek a temporary restraining order, and she did on May 24, 2013 (R89:32-35, 58, 60, 63-65).

However, while unknown to the T.R.O. Court (*see* R92:81-82), N.T.'s phone records showed that the blocked call she received on May 23 was from the City Attorney representing M.P.S., not from Ardell (R91:42-53; R107:Exhs.110-112). Moreover, independent witnesses and supporting exhibits, also not part of the T.R.O. proceedings, confirmed that Ardell was in Wausau overnight on May 23-24, 2013, and then working in his dump truck rather than in front of N.T.'s home in the Milwaukee area (R90:114-20; R91:10-26, 57-68; R103:Exh.105; R105:Exh.107; R107:Exh. 113; R111:Exhs.124-126, 128; *see also* R92:66-77).

N.T. also told police that Ardell had been in front of her home in a maroon van a week before the interview, on or about July 30, 2014 (R90:89). However, independent witnesses and documentary evidence placed Ardell in Green Lake working with his dump truck throughout the period from July 28 through August 2, 2014 (R90:121-26; R91:27-40, 63-69; see R93:6-22; R104:Exh.106; R106:Exh.109; R110:Exh.119; R111:Exh.132-134; R112:Exh.135; R113:Exhs.136-137). Ardell also presented evidence and photographs showing that his maroon van had been parked in his driveway, inoperable since July 2013 (R90:49-53; R92:106-07; R95:7-10; R102:Exhs.101-104).

Roger Myszka, who had been a tenant in N.T.'s duplex, testified that N.T. asked him to tell the police that he saw Ardell in a maroon van outside the duplex, even though she knew that

was false. Originally, he did tell the police that he had seen a maroon van. Later, however, he rejected N.T.'s requests that he stick with the false story and called the District Attorney, admitting that N.T. had put him up to telling the lie. (R90:104-13).

Ardell sought assistance from law enforcement to investigate N.T.'s allegations against him and sought to investigate on his own when his requests were ignored (R92:79-81, 84-85; R111:Exh.129). In July 2014, after Hagen had left M.P.S. and was no longer N.T.'s supervisor (R90:11, 18-19), Ardell sent her a series of emails at her new school in Fond du Lac (with copies to others in the Fond du Lac school system but not N.T. (*id.*:14; R93:28, 31)) seeking information regarding the decision to seek the T.R.O. and reflecting his position that the evidence used to seek that T.R.O. was false (*id.*:11-17, 20-24; R92:85-91; R100:Exhs. 9-13).

Although Ardell did not want N.T. to know of his investigation and did not intend that the emails be forwarded to her (R92:11, 93; R93:44), Hagen contacted N.T. at some point and spoke with her about them (R90:16). However, she did not testify regarding the substance of those conversations (*see id.*) and N.T. did not testify regarding the emails or their impact at all (*see* R88:17-78).

Over defense objection that she was neither N.T.'s employer at the time nor the alleged victim (R90:15), Hagen was allowed to testify that the threat of a lawsuit or publicity concerned her:

THE WITNESS: I was very concerned. In the email, he threatens to file a lawsuit against me, against

Indeed, Ardell intentionally avoided contacting relatives of N.T. who he knew might contact her (R93:46).

the school board of Fond du Lac, to also get – start protesting on the first day of school, outside the school

He also threatened in here to take out a radio ad as to why I became the principal of the school district. My husband is a retired police officer. I felt very – [objection]

(R90:15). When she subsequently explained why she felt it was "threaten[ing]," she continued with the same focus regarding publicity and her position rather than any threat of physical harm:

I got the sense that I was nervous for Nicole. I felt threatened for myself and my position and the school in which I work.

(Id.:27).

At some point, Ardell also learned that N.T. had made some kind of allegations against Daniel Fischer and he made several calls to Fischer's number in an unsuccessful attempt to speak with him and learn whether she had made similar false allegations against him. Most calls went unanswered, although Ardell once was able to leave a voicemail and once a message with a relative (R90:72-75; R92:96-97; R93:64-65; R101:Exh.16; R114:Exh.17).

Although Ardell did not know it at the time (R92:95; R93:64), Fischer was the father of N.T.'s child (R88:28-29), but no evidence was presented that the two were married or maintained any current relationship. Likewise, no evidence suggested that Fischer or anyone informed N.T. of Ardell's attempts to contact Fischer. Fischer did not testify.

The state also presented evidence that, in frustration over the failure of law enforcement to investigate his claims that N.T. had falsely accused him, Ardell had left a voicemail message for an assistant district attorney, ADA Westphal, asking what he would need to do to get arrested in the hopes that would trigger such an investigation (R90:82-83; R114:Exh.18). Again, no evidence suggested that anyone informed N.T. of Ardell's voicemail.

In closing arguments, the state effectively ignored N.T.'s own allegations (R95:57, 86) and likewise admitted that the open records requests alone would not support conviction (*id.*:56). Instead, it focused entirely on the Hagen emails and the attempt to contact Fischer as sufficient for conviction because they were about N.T. (*id.*:54-59, 84-87).

At sentencing, the circuit court denied Ardell's written Motion to Set Aside Jury Verdict (R97:2-6; see R45; App. 5-9), and sentenced Ardell to two years initial confinement, three years extended supervision, and a fine of \$7,500 (R97:44-45). It also denied Ardell's motion to stay the sentence pending appeal (R97:45-46; see R44).

By post-conviction motion filed on October 21, 2016, Ardell raised the same challenges raised here, among others (R54). Following briefing (R59; R64), the circuit court summarily adopted portions of the state's opposition memorandum and denied the motion without a hearing (R65; App. 1-3).

Ardell timely appealed and his opening brief currently is due by July 14, 2017. *See* Order (June 23, 2017).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because the trial court's admission of evidence and the state's case relied upon an invalid legal theory, the circuit court erred in denying Ardell's post-conviction motion. Should the Court reach Ardell's contingent ineffectiveness claim, the circuit court also erred in denying that claim without a hearing because Ardell's allegations of ineffectiveness, if true, entitle him to relief.

State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶18, 336 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. The facial sufficiency of a motion is reviewed *de novo*. Id.³

The state's primary theory in this case – that Ardell could be convicted of stalking in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.32(2) based in whole or in part on his communications with the complainant's former supervisor, Ms. Hagen and other third parties – was legally impermissible under Wisconsin law. The physical evidence or independent and unbiased third party witnesses rebutted every specific allegation N.T. made regarding alleged "stalking" behavior by Ardell, whether sitting outside her house or calling and threatening her. The state therefore reasonably chose not to rely on her allegations in closing (R95:57, 86). Instead, it focused on what it could prove: that Ardell sent Hagen a series of emails and spoke to others about N.T. (*Id.*:52-62, 85-89).

The jury did not miss the point, with Ardell's emails to Hagen among the first exhibits it requested during deliberations (R94:12; *see* R100:Exhs.9-13).

However, Wisconsin law requires that the acts constituting "stalking" be "directed at" the alleged victim – i.e., N.T. – *not* merely be "about" the alleged victim. The emails to Hagen and communications with other third parties could not, under Wisconsin law or logic, constitute part of any "course of conduct directed at" N.T. simply because they were about N.T. Rather,

Although the circuit court erred by summarily adopting the state's post-conviction response (R65; App. 1-3), see, e.g., State v. McDermott, 2012 WI App 14, ¶9 n.2, 339 Wis.2d 316, 810 N.W.2d 237, remand is unnecessary to determine the sufficiency of the motion since that issue is reviewed de novo, id.; see Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶18 (sufficiency of motion to require hearing is issue of law reviewed de novo). Remand only would be necessary if the Court chooses not to reverse Ardell's conviction outright but instead holds that a hearing is necessary on his ineffectiveness claim. See State v. Machner, 92 Wis.2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

such actions directed at third parties cannot be "directed at" the alleged victim absent a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Ardell intended either that the substance of the communications be transmitted to N.T. or that the third parties act on the information to harass N.T. Argument §I,A,1 & 2, *infra*.

Construing §940.32 as covering a defendant's actions in seeking or imparting information about the alleged victim without the requirement that the defendant either intended those actions to be communicated to the alleged victim or used to harass the alleged victim would not merely conflict with the plain meaning of the statute. It also would violate both the First Amendment and the express statutory exception for such actions under Wis. Stat. §940.32(4). Argument §I,A,3, infra.

Given the plain language requiring that the defendant's actions be "directed at" the alleged victim, moreover, retroactively expanding the scope of §940.32 to criminalize actions that are only directed at third parties and not the alleged victim also would violate the due process requirement of notice. Argument §I,B, *infra*.

Given the requirement that the course of conduct be "directed at" the alleged victim, the emails and Hagen's testimony were not relevant or admissible on the "course of conduct" element. Even if they were somehow relevant to some other, as yet unidentified issue, the risk that the jury would erroneously and unfairly interpret the evidence as somehow satisfying the "course of conduct" requirement, as the state argued it should, far exceeds any hypothetical legitimate probative value of that evidence, especially since the Court did not instruct the jury that the evidence could be used for only limited, valid purposes. Wis. Stat. §904.03. Argument §I, C, infra.

The substantive jury instructions, moreover, permitted the

jury to misapply the evidence of Ardell's emails to Hagen and his communications with law enforcement and Daniel Fischer – just as the state argued in closing that it should (*id.*:52-62, 85-89)⁴ – and to treat them as sufficient evidence to prove the stalking charge. Argument §I,D, *infra*. Those instructions also failed to require proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the statutory requirements that Ardell intended his actions to cause a reasonable person to fear bodily injury and knew that his actions "would," rather than merely "could," place N.T. in reasonable fear. Argument, §II, *infra*. As such, the instructions impermissibly allowed the jury to convict Ardell without requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all facts necessary for conviction.

Although Ardell's trial counsel overlooked and therefore failed to properly object to some of these errors, that failure constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Argument, §III, *infra*.

The identified errors likewise justify reversal in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat. §752.35 since – the state having relied on an invalid theory at trial, and the instructions having failed to require a jury finding on all facts necessary for conviction – it cannot rationally be said that the real controversy has been fully tried. Argument, §V, *infra*.

Finally, because the enhancer allegations were dismissed at trial, they must be stricken from the judgment should the Court fail to reverse Ardell's conviction. Argument, §VI, *infra*.

The state conceded that conviction could not be based on Ardell's open records requests (R95:56).

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