# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-05-2017

# COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP381-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KORRY L. ARDELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. As to the six issues presented for the first time in postconviction proceeding, Ardell is only entitled to appellate review within the context of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Ardell has forfeited his right to direct appellate review of the six issues raised for the first time in his postconviction motion. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 29–30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612; *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 765–68, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). Each underlying claim could have—and should have—been raised before or during trial.

The forfeiture rule "enable[s] the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30. A defendant who forfeits claims may receive review only within the context of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 766; *see also State v. Langlois*, 2017 WI App 44, ¶ 17.

Ardell has forfeited his right to direct appellate review of the first six issues he presents for review. By failing to raise the six issues before or during trial, he deprived the circuit court of the opportunity to weigh them in the context of the case. Timely objection and argument could have allowed the parties and the circuit court to address those issues before or during trial. The losing party could also have asked this Court to invoke its discretionary appellate jurisdiction and obtain pretrial guidance. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50. Scarce litigation and judicial resources could have been conserved. Consequently, this Court should apply the forfeiture rule and review the first six issues in the context of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

Ardell anticipated the State's forfeiture argument by asserting, *pro forma*, that his trial counsel was ineffective for

failing to properly preserve the six issues. (Ardell's Br. 27–29.) The State addresses that argument next.

II. Because ineffective assistance of counsel cases involve situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue, trial counsel did not render deficient performance by failing to make objections and present argument on the first six issues Ardell presents on appeal.

# A. Controlling principles of law.

To establish ineffective assistance of trial counsel, Ardell must show both deficient performance and actual prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, Ardell must identify the specific acts or omissions by trial counsel that fall "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 690. To prove actual prejudice, Ardell must demonstrate that counsel's deficient performance deprived him of a fair trial and a reliable outcome. Id. at 687. Ardell "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

With particular application here, this Court limits ineffective assistance of counsel cases "to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 85, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994), *quoted with approval in State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 33, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232. *See also State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶¶ 24–28, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; *State v. Morales-Pedrosa*, 2016 WI App 38, ¶ 16, 369 Wis. 2d 75, 879 N.W.2d 772 (no Sixth Amendment duty to object and argue an "unclear" point of law). A failure to raise a novel argument, or one requiring resolution of an unsettled legal question, will not normally constitute deficient performance. Lemberger, 374 Wis. 2d 617, ¶¶ 18, 33. The Sixth Amendment guarantees criminal defendants a fair trial and a competent attorney. It does not insure that trial counsel will recognize and raise every conceivable claim. See Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 134 (1982). Likewise, the failure to raise a meritless argument does not constitute ineffective representation. See State v. Reynolds, 206 Wis. 2d 356, 369, 557 N.W.2d 821 (Ct. App. 1996).

B. The first six issues Ardell presents on appeal are novel, and turn on unsettled legal questions. Trial counsel did not render deficient performance by failing to base objections and argument on them before or during trial.

The first six issues Ardell presents on appeal are the product of postconviction contemplation. They represent "the retroactive conclusion[s] of postconviction counsel," informed by hindsight. *Kain v. State*, 48 Wis. 2d 212, 222, 179 N.W.2d 777 (1970). And they are novel, requiring resolution of unsettled legal questions. Thus, this Court should not find trial counsel ineffective for failing to raise them before or during trial.

The first four issues stem from Ardell's postconviction construction of the phrase *directed at* in Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(a). Ardell concedes that no Wisconsin court has addressed the question whether a conviction under that statute requires direct acts or communication between the defendant and the victim, as opposed to acts or communications through third parties. (Ardell's Br. *xii.*) He cites several cases from other jurisdictions that he says support his position. (*Id.* at 13–16.) The State will distinguish some of those cases, and cites others that reject Ardell's analysis *infra*. The State sees no clear consensus among reviewing courts, and nothing at all to suggest that the law was so clear that Ardell's counsel should have known to raise the issues. *See McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d at 85.

And with respect to his fifth and sixth issues on appeal, Ardell cites no decisions—from Wisconsin or elsewhere—that address the mental state required of the defendant to convict him of stalking under Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2). That makes his position—that the State had the burden to prove his subjective intent to cause NT distress or fear—novel, and unsupported by Wisconsin law.

His position also lacks apparent merit. Ardell asserts that Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2) required the State to prove Ardell subjectively intended to cause NT the necessary distress or fear. (Ardell's Br. 26–27.) He is wrong. The State was not required to prove Ardell's subjective intent. Nor was the State required to prove that Ardell knew his conduct would cause NT to suffer distress or fear. Rather, the stalking statute requires that the "actor knows or should know that at least one of the acts that constitute the course of conduct will cause the specific person to suffer serious emotional distress or place the specific person in reasonable fear of bodily injury to or the death of himself or herself or a member of his or her family or household." Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(b). A "knew or should have known" test is an objective standard. Howell v. Denomie, 2005 WI 81, ¶ 8, 282 Wis. 2d 130, 698 N.W.2d 621. Trial counsel had no duty to raise a meritless claim. Reynolds, 206 Wis. 2d at 369.

Ardell asserts ineffective assistance *pro forma* at pages 27–29 of his opening brief. But Ardell fails to explain why trial counsel's failure to make the necessary objections and arguments fell outside the wide range of professionally reasonable assistance guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and *Strickland*.

"The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. Ardell has not shown that, with respect to Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2), the law or duty were so clear at the time of trial that prevailing professional norms required his trial counsel to present the five forfeited claims before or during trial. As was the case in *Lemberger*, trial counsel—at the absolute best—faced unsettled legal questions at trial. 374 Wis. 2d 617, ¶ 33. The Sixth Amendment did not require him to raise the six claims. *Id*.

Because of Ardell's forfeiture—and because his trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance in failing to raise these issues— this Court may end its consideration of the six claims here.

But since Ardell has asked this Court to exercise its discretionary reversal power, *see* Wis. Stat. § 752.35, the State will address Ardell's core contention—that the phrase *directed at* in Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(a) excludes acts or communications regarding the alleged victim but directed at third parties, absent the jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant either intended the information to be passed on to the alleged victim, or intended the third parties to harass the alleged victim based on the information. That interpretation fails to persuade.

III. Wisconsin Stat. § 940.32(2) properly permits both direct communications between the defendant and the victim, as well as communications through third parties, as part of the "course of conduct" criminalized by the statute.

#### A. Controlling principles of law.

Courts interpret statutes to determine their meaning and give them their full, intended effect. State v. Doss, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 30, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150. The process begins with the statutory language. If it is plain and unambiguous, the court will apply the "ordinary and accepted meaning of the language to the facts" presented, and the task is complete. *State v. Kittilstad*, 231 Wis. 2d 245, 256, 603 N.W.2d 732 (1999). *See also* Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1) (providing that all words and phrases should be construed according to their common and approved usage).

A court may properly use a dictionary to determine the ordinary, accepted meaning of a term in a statute. That does not render the term ambiguous. *State v. Whistleman*, 2001 WI App 189, ¶ 6, 247 Wis. 2d 337, 633 N.W.2d 249.

Absent specific limiting language, statutory provisions should apply to all situations fairly included within their terms. *State v. Badzmierowski*, 171 Wis. 2d 260, 263–64, 490 N.W.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1992). "If the language of a statute reasonably covers a situation, the statute applies irrespective of whether the legislature ever contemplated that specific application." 2B Norman J. Singer & Shambie Singer, *Sutherland Statutes and Statutory Construction*, § 54:5 (7th ed. 2016).

Ardell favors strict construction. (Ardell's Br. 11–12.) But strict construction is not appropriate "when the legislature's intent is unambiguous, or when strict construction goes against the legislature's purpose." *Kittilstad*, 231 Wis. 2d at 262. Strict construction is not appropriate if the commonsense view of the statute as a whole, giving effect to the intent of the legislature, reasonably leads to a broad application. *Id.* at 267.

B. Under Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(a), the phrase directed at includes not only direct acts and communication between the defendant and victim, but also acts and communication through third parties.

The first element of stalking under Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(a) requires the defendant to engage in a course of conduct *directed at* the victim. The phrase has no esoteric meaning. It is not a legal term of art. It lends itself to interpretation by use of a dictionary.

According to a common online dictionary—and as applied here—a defendant engages in a course of conduct *directed at* the victim where the defendant causes his "attention, thoughts, emotions, etc. to relate to a particular person, thing, goal, etc."<sup>3</sup> The defendant's conduct must specifically relate to his victim.

This common-sense, plain-language definition does not require direct communication between defendant and victim, as opposed to communication through a third party. And no other part of Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2) limits its applicability in this manner. The statute draws no distinction between direct communication and communication through a third party. This Court should not read such a limitation into the statute. As in *Badzmierowski*, "[t]he statute does not mention any such distinction, and we refuse to read one into it." 171 Wis. 2d at 263. That this definition may broaden the applicability of the statute beyond the contemplation of the Legislature—or Ardell—does not require this Court to reject it. Singer & Singer, supra, § 54:5. This definition is consistent with the laudable goals of the statute: to protect people from recurring intimidation and to allow for law enforcement intervention before violence occurs. Ruesch, 214 Wis. 2d at 599; *Kittilstad*, 231 Wis. 2d at 267.

Here, the jury could easily and reasonably conclude that Ardell's communications to third parties—Michelle Hagen, DF, other MPS employees—specifically related to NT. The multiple communications referred to her explicitly, and fell within the scope of acts establishing the "course of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.learnersdictionary.com/definition/direct (last visited August 31, 2017).

conduct" necessary to establish stalking. *See*, *e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 940.32(1)(a)3. (contacts with victim's employers or coworkers); sub. (1)(a)7. (sending material seeking or disseminating information about victim to friends).

Ardell construes the phrase *directed* at to mean that he could only be found guilty under Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2)(a) if the State had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that he either intended the third parties-Michelle Hagen, DF, other MPS employees—share the substance of the communications with NT, or that the third parties harassed NT as a result of the communications. (Ardell's Br. at 7–8, 10–16.) But by its terms, the statute does not require proof of these mental elements. The statute prohibits intentionally engaging in a course of conduct, directed at the victim, when the defendant knew or should have known at least one of his acts would cause NT to suffer serious emotional distress, or place her in fear of bodily injury or death to herself or a family member. Such knowledge may be actual or imputed. Ruesch, 214 Wis. 2d at 548, 553.

From the evidence of Ardell's sustained barrage of letters, telephone calls, home visits, and following, the jury here could easily conclude that Ardell knew his acts would have the necessary effect on NT. Ardell's March 13, 2013, letter, included a sentence from which the jury could find that Ardell knew that NT knew about his earlier letters and requests, and knew they would have a negative effect on her: "I further would argue that if turning over the sick days, disciplinary actions or investigation involving [NT] would cause her severe distress this should not be someone who should be working with children and she seems rather mentally unstable . . . ." (R. 100:21.) Ardell also presents cases from other jurisdictions to buttress his interpretation of the phrase *directed at*. (Ardell's Br. 12–16.).<sup>4</sup> They do not bring the correctness of the State's common-sense, plain-language interpretation into question.

Some of the cases Ardell cites involve very dissimilar fact situations, making them unpersuasive here. This is not a case involving computer websites, blogs, or other situations involving communications directed to the public. *See Chan v. Ellis*, 770 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ga. 2015); *David v. Textor*, 189 So. 3d 871, 875 (Fla App. 2016). This is not a case involving only complaints to government agencies complaints which enjoyed constitutional protection and served a legitimate purpose within the meaning of the state's statute. *Curry v. State*, 811 So. 2d 736, 738, 741 (Fla. App. 2002). This is not a case involving protected political speech. *LaFaro v. Cahill*, 56 P.3d 56, 58 (Az. App. 2002).

In contrast, the State notes an unpublished opinion one from Arizona that postdates *LaFaro*—which may lead this Court to reject Ardell's argument. *See State v. Sebba*, Nos. 1 CA-CR 10-0687 and 1 CA-CR 10-0693, 2012 WL 209751 (Ariz. Jan. 24, 2012). (R-App. 101–08.) *Sebba* appears in the State's Supplemental Index.

Arizona indicted Sebba for stalking and aggravated harassment arising out of a dispute between neighbors. *Id.*  $\P\P$  2–3. (R-App. 101.) The victim sought and received an injunction prohibiting harassment. *Id.*  $\P$  3. (R-App. 101.) Sebba ignored it. He sent a letter to the school principal of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> He also cites one Wisconsin case involving use of the phrase *directed at.* (Ardell's Br. 12.) See *Leonard v. State*, 2015 WI App 57, 364 Wis. 2d 491, 868 N.W.2d 186. But that case involves application and interpretation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9), a federal firearms disability statute. *Leonard*, 364 Wis. 2d 491, ¶ 31. It is unhelpful here.

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